IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LAS VEGAS REVIEW JOURNAL,
Appellant,

VS.

Electronically Filed Sep 14 2021 05:42 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 82908

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable David M. Jones, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-758501-W

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE LAW 602 South Tenth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 728-5300; Fax: (702) 425-8220

Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com

Counsel for The Las Vegas Review-Journal

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The district court's April 8, 2021, order granting in part the Las Vegas Review-Journal, Inc.'s ("Review-Journal") motion for attorney's fees and costs is a final order in the underlying action (7 JA1268-1282¹), as defined by Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(1). The Review-Journal filed a timely notice of appeal on May 7, 2021. *See* NRAP 4(a)(1) (providing that a notice of appeal in a civil case must be filed no later than 30 days after entry of a written judgment or order). Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over this matter.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it is not a matter which would be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b). Moreover, this Court should retain jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) because it raises a question of statewide importance about a prevailing requester's entitlement to reasonable attorney's fees and costs under the Nevada Public Records Act.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred in awarding the Review-Journal only a portion of its attorney's fees and costs, an award in the amount of \$167,200.00, instead of

¹ For the Court's ease of reference, citations to the Joint Appendix ("JA") cite to both volume and page number. Hence, "7" refers to Volume 7 of the Joint Appendix at pages 1268 through 1282.

fully compensating the Review-Journal all the reasonable attorney's fees and costs it expended in successfully litigating a significant public records matter.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After almost four years of extensive and costly litigation at the district court and before this Court, including three appeals², the Review-Journal finally and fully prevailed in its efforts to obtain unredacted copies of juvenile autopsy reports (4 JA0731-0746) as well as a decision cementing that a prevailing requester in litigation brought pursuant to the Nevada Public Records Act³ is entitled to recover the reasonable fees and costs from the governmental entity that has custody or control of the records. *See Clark County Office of the Coroner/Med. Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 458 P.3d 1048 (Nev. 2020).

Because it was a prevailing party in this litigation, the Review-Journal was entitled to a full award of its reasonable attorney's costs and fees from the Clark County Office of the Coroner/Medical Examiner (the "Coroner"). *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2)⁴. At the time the Review-Journal moved the district court for fees

² See Nevada Supreme Court Case Nos. 74604 (the Coroner's appeal of the district court order granting access to juvenile autopsy reports); 75095 (the Coroner's appeal of the district court's order awarding the Review-Journal its fees and costs); and 82229 (the Coroner's voluntarily dismissed appeal of the district court's order on remand from this Court).

³ Nev. Rev. Stat. §239.001 et seq. (the "NPRA").

⁴ "If the requester prevails, the requester is entitled to recover from the governmental entity that has legal custody or control of the record his or her costs and reasonable attorney's fees in the proceeding."

and costs on February 2, 2021 (5 JA0774-1000; 6 JA1001-1132), the Review-Journal had incurred \$275,640.00 in attorney's fees and \$3,581.48 in costs⁵; fees and costs that were incurred in no small part because, as the district court observed, the Coroner had "dragged its heels and been brought before the [district court] kicking and screaming over objections that are frivolous, featherweight, and fallacious" time and again to prevent the disclosure of public records. (4 JA0716; *see generally* 4 JA0706-0723.)

In moving for an award of all the attorney's fees and costs it had incurred over the course of nearly four years of litigation⁶, the Review-Journal provided substantial documentation demonstrating how the fees and costs were reasonable and necessarily incurred. (5 JA0774-1000; 7 JA1222-1267 (declaration of counsel and documenting fees by date and biller); 6 JA1001-1132.)

Shortly after the December 10, 2020, hearing, the district court judge who had presided over this matter since its inception retired, and the matter was reassigned to a new district court. (7 JA1305.) The newly-assigned district court conducted a

⁵ (5 JA0774.)

⁶ As discussed in further detail below, the fees sought by Review-Journal in its February 2, 2021, motion, totaling \$275,640.00, included \$32,377.50 the district court awarded to the Review-Journal prior to the Coroner's first two appeals in this matter (when a different judge was assigned to the matter). The district court never indicated whether a portion of the fees it denied the Review-Journal included all or part of the \$32,377.50 previously awarded.

hearing on the Review-Journal's motion on March 2, 2021. (6 JA1205.) At the hearing, the district court agreed that the Review-Journal was the prevailing party (6 JA1220), but nevertheless reduced the Review-Journal's award of fees from \$275,640.00 to \$167,200.00 and reduced the award of costs from \$3,581.48 to \$2,472.99. (*Id.*) While the district court described its reductions as "reasonable" (*id.*), when pressed by counsel for specific information about how it determined which fees and costs to reduce, the district court—who had not presided over any of the prior hearings in this matter—stated only the following:

It was just a matter of, counsel, basically, and, you know, you can call it the vast years of auditing bills for insurance companies. I went through and looked and did it. I spent about three and a half hours going through the bills, counsel. I don't have a problem with the blended rate. I just looked at certain issues and said, okay, is this an amount that I believe should have been. And then I pulled up the court record and said How long was the hearing? And I just verified every one of those opinions and that's how I came up with my reasonable amount, counsel.

(6 JA1220-1221.) Nowhere has the district court indicated which hearings it reviewed and reduced, which time entries it refused to allow, which time entries it reduced, or what amount "should have been" billed by counsel for their work.

The district court's reduction of the Review-Journal's fee award by over one third runs contrary to the plain language of the fees provisions in the NPRA, and all the more so because those provisions must be construed liberally to maximize access to public records and disincentivize governmental resistance to transparency. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001(1) and (2); see also Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127

Nev. 873, 878, 266 P.3d 623, 626 (2011) (holding that the provisions of the NPRA "must be liberally construed to maximize the public's right of access"). As the district court acknowledged, there "has to be . . . a cost of appealing matters" in NPRA cases. (6 JA1219-1220.) The cost to be paid by a governmental entity is clearly defined in the NPRA; if a requester prevails in an action for access to public records, the only limitation on an award to the prevailing requester is that its fees and costs must be "reasonable." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2). As demonstrated below, all of the fees and costs expended by the Review-Journal were reasonable and necessary to its success in overcoming the Coroner's resistance to transparency. Thus, the district court should have awarded the Review-Journal all its attorney's fees and costs.

In addition, the district court's failure to demonstrate how it applied the *Brunzell* factors or identify the information it relied on to reduce the Review-Journal's fee award by over one third, reflects that the district court abused its discretion. Pursuant to *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969) and its progeny, a district court must "demonstrate that it considered the required factors, and the award must be supported by substantial evidence." *Logan v. Abe*, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015) (citation omitted); *see also Argentena Consol. Mining Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury & Standish*, 125 Nev. 527, 540 n.2, 216 P.3d 779, 788 n.2 (2009) (reiterating that the district

court's award of attorney fees must include findings as to the reasonableness of the fees under *Brunzell*)⁷; *see also Songer v. Delucchi*, 132 Nev. 1031 (2016) (vacating a fee award where the record on appeal "does not clearly demonstrate that the district court considered the factors or include evidence that clearly supports the amount of fees awarded") (citation omitted). The district court's pronouncements both at the hearing and in the order on fees do not comport with these requirements.

Here, given the Court's familiarity with the extensive procedural and factual history of this litigation and the district court's relative newness to this matter, the Court is well-positioned to determine the appropriate award of fees and costs due to the Review-Journal for the work performed in this important public records matter. Thus, this Court should vacate the district court's order and direct the Coroner to compensate the Review-Journal for all its reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court is well-versed in the factual history of this matter. Nonetheless, a review of the complex factual and procedural history of this matter—as well as a review of the extensive efforts of the Review-Journal's counsel to achieve multiple victories in this matter—is necessary to illustrate why the district court's reduction of the Review-Journal's award of fees and costs was reversible error. For almost four

⁷ Superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in Fredianelli v. Price, 133 Nev. 586, 588, 402 P.3d 1254, 1255-56 (2017).

years, the Coroner "dragged its heels" at every turn in the litigation and had to be "brought before the Court kicking and screaming over objections that are frivolous, featherweight, and fallacious." (4 JA0716.) That heel-dragging came with a cost. Because of the Coroner's unrelenting resistance to—and defiance of—the NPRA, the Review-Journal was forced to go to court over and over again to obtain the autopsy records and repeatedly had to fight against the Coroner's efforts to reduce (or eliminate) the Review-Journal's statutorily-guaranteed award of fees and costs. As a result, the Review-Journal's attorney's fees and costs have steadily increased over the years. The NPRA mandates that the Review-Journal should now be fully compensated for all the expenses it incurred as a result of the Coroner's resistance to disclosure.

A. The Records Request and the Initial Litigation

On April 13, 2017, the Review-Journal sent the Coroner a records request pursuant to the NPRA seeking all reports of autopsies conducted on anyone under the age of 18 from 2012 through the date of the request. (1 JA0013-0027.) In response to this request, the Coroner responded that it would not produce the requested juvenile autopsy reports because they contained confidential medical information. *Clark Cty. Office of the Coroner/Medical Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 458 P.3d 1048, 1051 (Nev. 2020) ("Coroner").

Before seeking relief from the district court, the Review-Journal made several

efforts—including meeting with representatives from the Coroner's office—to persuade the Coroner to comply with its obligation to disclose the records pursuant to the NPRA. *See generally Coroner*, 458 P.3d at 1051. When the Coroner still refused to disclose the records, the Review-Journal filed a petition for a writ of mandamus with the district court. (1 JA0001-0011.)

After extensive briefing, the district court heard argument on the Review-Journal's petition on September 28, 2017, and subsequently issued a written order granting the Review-Journal's petition on November 9, 2017. (2 JA0401-0412.)

The Review-Journal then filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. (2 JA0415-0453.) In that motion, the Review-Journal sought \$31,552.50 for attorney's fees and \$825.00 for costs incurred through November 9, 2017. (2 JA0417.) On February 1, 2018, the district court granted the full relief that the Review-Journal's Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs requested and directed the Coroner to compensate the Review-Journal for all the attorney's fees and costs it had incurred through November 9, 2017. (2 JA0457-0469.)

B. The Coroner's Appeals of the District Court's Orders Granting the Review-Journal's Petition and its Motion for Fees and Costs.

The Coroner did not take its district court losses on either the Review-Journal's petition or its motion for fees and costs lying down. Instead, the Coroner went to great lengths to undo the district court's orders and prevent both access to the juvenile autopsy records and payment of the Review-Journal's fees and costs.

The Coroner filed two appeals—one (Case No. 74604) challenging the district court's order granting the Review-Journal's petition, and the other (Case No. 75095) challenging the district court order awarding the Review-Journal fees and costs. *See also Clark Cty. Office of Coroner/Med. Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 458 P.3d 1048 ("Coroner"). On appeal, as it had before the district court, the Coroner asserted many categorical claims against access. Like the district court, this Court rejected the Coroner's categorical arguments. *Id.* at 45-46, 1050-51.

The Coroner argued the autopsy records the Review-Journal requested were categorically confidential pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 432B.407(6), which renders confidential any records or information acquired by a Child Death Review team. *Id.*, 458 P.3d at 1051. On appeal, this Court rejected the Coroner's argument and held that Nev. Rev. Stat. § 432B.407(6) did not render the requested autopsy reports categorically confidential. This Court concluded, "based on the plain language of NRS 432B.407(6) and the expressed purposes behind NRS Chapter 432B, that the CDR team confidentiality provision is not intended to categorically exempt records held by an individual CDR agency, such as the Coroner's Office, from the NPRA's disclosure requirements." *Id.* at 1056.

The Coroner also asserted "that it may withhold juvenile autopsy reports in their entirety in order to protect sensitive personal medical information of child decedents." *Id.* This Court rejected the Coroner's legal arguments, including its

claims that the autopsy reports were categorically confidential pursuant to the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), the autopsy reports were categorically confidential pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 629.021, the autopsy reports were categorically confidential pursuant to a 2017 Assembly Bill that modified a statute pertaining to next-of-kin notifications, and the autopsy reports were confidential pursuant to Attorney General Opinion 82-12. *Id.* ("We disagree that these authorities justify withholding juvenile autopsy reports in their entirety.")

After rejecting the Coroner's myriad assertions that the autopsy reports were categorically exempt from disclosure, the Court found that the Coroner had established that the disclosure implicated a nontrivial personal privacy interest that could justify limited redactions to the records. *Id.* at 1057. Accordingly, the Court remanded the matter for the district court to determine, under the test articulated in *Clark County School District v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, what autopsy report information must be disclosed under the NPRA and whether any information could be redacted as private medical or health-related information. *Id.* at 58, 1059. Finally, the Coroner argued that Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.012—a provision of the NPRA which immunizes individual public officers or employees who "act[] in good faith in disclosing or refusing to disclose information"—also prevented an award of attorneys' fees against governmental entities that act in good faith in refusing to

⁸ 134 Nev. 700, 707-08, 429 P.3d 313, 320-21 (2018) ("CCSD").

disclose public records. *Coroner*, 458 P.3d at 1051. This Court rejected that argument as well. Relying on the plain language of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2), the Court found the provision's use of the word "entitled" guaranteed the Review-Journal's absolute right to recover its reasonable attorney's fees and costs. This Court noted that, as defined by *Black's Law Dictionary*,

the term "entitle" means "[to] grant a legal right to or qualify for," *Entitle, Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019), and an "entitlement" is defined as "[a]n absolute right to a (usually monetary) benefit . . . granted immediately upon meeting a legal requirement," *Entitlement, Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). This Court further held the statute's language plainly provides that if LVRJ is the prevailing requester, it has met the sole legal requirement which qualifies it for, or makes it "entitled to," reasonable attorney fees and costs. *See also Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 131 Nev. 80, 82, 343 P.3d 608, 610 (2015) (holding a records requester "was a prevailing party and thus entitled to recover attorney fees and costs pursuant to NRS 239.011").

Id. at 1060-61. In sum, this Court soundly rejected every argument the Coroner made in its efforts to assert the autopsy reports were categorically confidential and remanded the matter solely for the district court to determine whether any information could be redacted from the reports, and also rejected the Coroner's assertion that it was immune from attorney's fees and costs.

The Review-Journal's resounding success in maintaining its district court victories was hard-fought and time consuming. As illustrated in the billing detail by date submitted in district court, the Review-Journal was required to dedicate substantial time and resources to reviewing and responding to the Coroner's filings

in these first two of the three prior appeals. In Case No. 74604, the Review-Journal not only had to file an Answering Brief, but also had engage in other motion work, such as opposing a motion to strike its appendix and filing a sur-reply. (6 JA1035-1037.) In Case No. 75095, the Review-Journal also filed more than a mere Answering Brief: the Review-Journal was required to oppose the Coroner's request for a stay of the order on fees and—after the Court granted the motion to stay petitioned the Court for rehearing after this Court held, as a matter of first impression that governmental entities are entitled as a matter of right to a stay of a money judgment without posting a bond. See Clark County Office of the Coroner/Medical Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 134 Nev. 74, 415 P.3d 16 (2018). The Review-Journal was additionally required to respond to a notice of supplemental authorities filed by the Coroner a week before oral argument. (6 JA1037.) Finally, the Review-Journal dedicated significant time and resources to preparing for the consolidated oral argument on these two appeals. (6 JA1037-1038.) In short, the issues in the case were very important and required significant and sophisticated legal work.

C. The Review-Journal Fully Prevailed on Remand From this Court.

On remand, the onus was on the Review-Journal to establish that the public interest to be advanced by access to the autopsy records was "a significant one and that the information [sought] is likely to advance that interest." *CCSD*, 134 Nev. at

707-08, 429 P.3d at 320 (quoting *Cameranesi v. U.S. Dep't of Defense*, 856 F.3d 626, 637 (9th Cir. 2017); alteration in original). This was no trivial burden. Rather, as illustrated by the extensive opening brief on remand, the Review-Journal had to dedicate substantial time and energy to establish the multiple public interests furthered by access to juvenile autopsy reports, including assessing the performance of the Coroner's office, furthering the integrity of criminal investigations, promoting law enforcement accountability and public confidence in law enforcement, providing the public with information regarding crimes of significant public interest, and facilitating the public's ability to assess how well local governmental entities tasked with protecting vulnerable and abused children from harm. (3 JA0487-0497; 3 JAJ0545-0548; *see also* 6 JA1039-1040.)

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