IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LAS VEGAS REVIEW	Case No.:	82908	
JOURNAL, Appellant,			Electronically Filed Oct 28 2021 10:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.			
CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE			
CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER,	11		th Judicial District e David M. Jones
Respondent.	Presiding		

<u>RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE</u> <u>CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER'S ANSWERING BRIEF</u>

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

NRS 239.011 (2017)	
NRS 239.011 (2019)	
NRS 239.011(2)	
NRS 239.012	
NRS 40.455	
NRS 616C.090	

I. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF THE</u> <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This a case where, after this Court reversed and remanded the lower court's prior disclosure decision and vacated the award of attorney fees and costs, the District Court was charged with conducting a balancing test in accordance with Clark Cnty. School Dist. v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 134 Nev. 700, 707-08, 429 P.3d 313, 320-21 (2018) to determine whether confidential and sensitive information contained in the autopsy reports should be redacted. See Clark Cnty. Office of the Coroner/Medical Examiner v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 136 Nev. 44, 458 P.2d 1048 (2020). On remand, the District Court concluded that the nontrivial privacy interests asserted by the Coroner were outweighed by the public's interest in the records and required the Coroner to disclose nearly 700 juvenile autopsy reports in unredacted form. 3 Joint Appendix ("JA") 619-37. The Coroner acknowledges that, based on the disclosure order on remand, the Las Vegas Review-Journal ("LVRJ") is considered the prevailing party on remand. See Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc., 131 Nev. 80, 82, 343 P.3d 608, 610 (2015).

Upon obtaining the disclosure order on remand from the District Court, LVRJ submitted an application for its attorney fees and costs throughout the entire litigation, including for work performed on appeal. 6 JA 774-1000. Initially, LVRJ sought over \$280,000 in fees and costs; however, LVRJ subsequently amended its application to remove unrelated entries, modifying the total sought to \$275,640.00 in attorney's fees and \$3,581.48 in costs. 7 JA 1222-67. After reviewing the briefing and analyzing the fees sought in accordance with the *Brunzell* test, the District Court concluded, that of the attorney fees and costs sought, \$167,200 in fees and \$2,472.99 in costs was reasonable.

On appeal, LVRJ asks this Court to conclude that the District Court abused its discretion in issuing the fee award because it reduced LVRJ fees and costs. First, LVRJ contends that the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA") required the District Court to award LVRJ <u>all</u> of its attorney's fees and cost. Next, LVRJ argues that the District Court did not sufficiently analyze its application under the *Brunzell* test and neglected to make concise and clear findings to support the reduction in fees and costs. Finally, LVRJ asks this Court to make factual findings and enter an award in its favor for <u>all</u> of its attorney's fees and costs.

LVRJ's arguments are not only unpersuasive, but run contrary to the NPRA and Nevada precedent on fee and cost awards for the following reasons:

A. The NPRA does not entitle a requester to an award of <u>all</u> attorney's fees and costs sought in an application. First and foremost, in construing NRS 239.011, the Court must look to the plain language of the statute. And, nothing in NRS 239.011 requires a district court to award a requester *all* attorney

fees and costs sought. In fact, the qualifying language within NRS 239.011 is that a requester is entitled to recover "reasonable" attorney fees. The plain language of the statute is consistent with Nevada public policy and common law—which requires an award of fees and costs to be reasonable. *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).

In an attempt to circumvent this standard, and the plain language of the statute, LVRJ directs this Court to its previous decision in *Clark Cnty*. Office of the Coroner/Medical Examiner v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 136 Nev. 44, 458 P.2d 1048 (2020), wherein the Court interpreted the term "entitled" within NRS 239.011. LVRJ's position ignores the context of the Court's decision. There, the Court was asked to determine whether NRS 239.012 immunized a public entity from attorney fees and costs provided in NRS 239.011. The Court concluded that the statutory provisions, NRS 239.011 and NRS 239.012, could be interpreted separately. In so doing, the Court reasoned that the language of "entitled" within NRS 239.011 permitted a requester to seek attorney fees and costs upon prevailing and the term "damages" within NRS 239.012 only applied to civil damages. Thus, the Court's analysis in determining that a requester is "entitled" to recover attorney fees and costs under NRS 239.011 does not automatically warrant, let alone guarantee, an award of all fees and costs sought. Accordingly, the District Court's

order awarding reasonable fees and costs is consistent with—not contrary to—the statutory language of the NPRA.

The District Court appropriately exercised its discretion in reducing В. LVRJ's attorney's fees and costs. LVRJ urges this Court to ignore wellestablished precedent and adopt the Ninth Circuit's standard in awarding feesrequiring a district court to clearly and concisely spell out its findings on fee awards. In contrast, this Court has held that while express findings under each of the *Brunzell* factors are preferred, it is not a requirement. *Logan v. Abe*, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015). "Instead, the district court need only demonstrate that it considered the required factors, and the award must be supported by substantial evidence." Id. The fee award issued by the District Court specifically analyzed each individual Brunzell factor in accordance with Nevada precedent. While the District Court found that all factors weighed in favor of a fee and cost award, it specifically noted that counsel for LVRJ dedicated a substantial amount of time to the litigation. 7 JA 1280. During the hearing, the District Court further explained it reviewed each individual entry, and, although it found the blended rate to be reasonable, it determined that the amount of time spent on certain issues was not. 6 JA 1220. Therefore, the Court must affirm the District Court's award as it did not abuse its discretion in reducing LVRJ's attorney's fees and costs.

Substantial evidence supports the District Court's reduction in C. attorney's fees and costs. "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015); In re Estate of Bethurem, 129 Nev. 869, 876, 313 P.3d 237, 242 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). Of the \$275,640.00 in attorney fees sought, approximately \$108,000 related to fees incurred for appellate work. After the District Court ordered disclosure of the autopsy records in unredacted form, the Coroner appealed the order and sought an emergency stay from this Court. See Supreme Court Case No. 82229. This Court denied the stay, and the Coroner moved to voluntarily dismiss the appeal. Id. The Coroner's motion was granted, and the Court ordered each party to bear its own fees and costs. Id. Despite this order, LVRJ sought over \$17,000 in attorney fees from the remand appeal as part of its fee application. The District Court was bound by this Court's order and was prohibited from awarding LVRJ its attorney's fees from that appellate proceeding. See Bd. of Gallery of History, Inc. v. Datecs Corp., 116 Nev. 286, 288, 994 P.2d 1149, 1150 (2000) ("Furthermore, this court's order dismissing the original appeal specifically held that Gallery's conduct on appeal did not merit sanctions. This is the law of the case and the district court was without authority to make a contrary finding.").

More importantly, however, LVRJ is precluded from recovering any appellate fees and costs incurred in the instant matter. It is well-established that attorney's fees and costs are not recoverable absent a statute, rule or contractual provision to the contrary. Rowland v. Lepire, 99 Nev. 308, 315, 662 P.2d 1332, 1336 (1983) (citations omitted). At the time of the instant case, the NPRA did not permit recovery of appellate fees and costs. Compare NRS 239.011 (2017) with NRS 239.011 (2019). Because the 2017-version of the NPRA was silent as to appellate fees and costs, LVRJ is precluded from recovering its fees and costs related to the appeals. See, e.g., Bobby Berosini, Ltd. v. People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals, 114 Nev. 1348, 971 P.2d 383 (1998) (interpreting NRS 18.010 as precluding appellate fees and costs). This Court should affirm the District Court as it reached the right result, even if it did so for the wrong reason, because substantial evidence supports the fee award. See Albios v. Horizon *Communities, Inc.*, 122 Nev. 409, 426 n. 40, 132 P.3d 1022, 1033 n. 40 (2006).

D. In the event the Court concludes that the District Court erred, or the record is unclear, the matter should be remanded to the District Court to conduct the *Brunzell* analysis on the record. LVRJ contends that the District Court erred because: (1) the NPRA *guarantees* a requester <u>all</u> of its attorney's fees and costs and (2) the District Court failed to explain line-by-line which entries were unreasonable—a method not required by Nevada law. It is the District Court that

is in the best position to value the services rendered by counsel, not this Court. *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 350, 455 P.2d 31, 35 (1969). Thus, if the District Court erred, the matter must be remanded with instructions.

In summary, the District Court properly exercised its discretion when it reduced LVRJ's award for attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRS 239.011. Contrary to LVRJ's fatally flawed position, nothing within the NPRA entitles or guarantees a requester to all of its attorney's fees and costs in the litigation. Rather, the plain language of NRS 239.011 permits an award of reasonable fees, which is consistent with Nevada law and public policy. Furthermore, the record reflects that the District Court analyzed each *Brunzell* factor. Although the District Court concluded that the factors weighed in favor of a fee and cost award, it determined that the substantial amount of time expended in the litigation was not entirely reasonable. Thus, in weighing the factors, the District Court properly concluded that \$167,200.00 was reasonable. Even if it is unclear from the record how the District Court specifically reduced the award, substantial evidence supports the reduction. In its fee application, LVRJ sought approximately \$108,000.00 in appellate fees. Because the 2017 NPRA did not permit LVRJ to recover its appellate fees and costs, the record supports the District Court's award. Alternatively, if the Court concludes that the District Court committed an error,

this matter should be remanded with instructions as the District Court is in the best position to value the services rendered by counsel.

II. <u>RELEVANT FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND</u>

A. THE SUPREME COURT REVERSED AND REMANDED THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION ON DISCLOSING JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS IN UNREDACTED FORMAT.

In April 2017, the LVRJ made a records request to the Coroner for autopsy reports of juvenile deaths dating back to January 2012. See Clark Cty. Off. of Coroner/Med. Exam'r v. Las Vegas Rev.-J., 136 Nev. 44, 46, 458 P.3d 1048, 1051 (2020). After providing LVRJ with various spreadsheets that identified the decedents and their related cause and manner of death, the Coroner proposed to provide the LVRJ with the juvenile autopsy reports in redacted form. *Id.* That is, the Coroner sought to redact the personal health and medical information of the decedents that were unrelated to the cause and manner of death. *Id.* On July 17, 2017, the LVRJ filed its Petition for access to autopsy reports of juvenile deaths dating back to January 2012. *Id.* Ultimately, the District Court ordered disclosure of the juvenile autopsy reports in unredacted format. *Id.* The Coroner appealed the District Court's decision. *Id.*

On appeal, this Court concluded that the CCSD balancing test pertaining to individuals' privacy interests applied to the instant case. Id. at 54, 458 P.3d at

1056. In applying the balancing test, this Court ruled that the Coroner satisfied its obligation under the *CCSD* balancing test in demonstrating that the juvenile autopsy reports contained personal health and medical information that involves a nontrivial privacy interest. *Id.* The Court then remanded the matter back to the District Court for the LVRJ to prove that the information sought, i.e., the personal health and medical information unrelated to the cause and manner of death, advanced significant public interest. *Id.*

It is imperative to recognize that the Supreme Court reversed the District Court's decision that the Coroner waived a legal basis for withholding the records and concluded that waiver is not a remedy provided for in the NPRA. *Id.* at 49, 458 P.3d at 1053 (citing *Rep. Attorneys General Assoc. v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 136 Nev. 28, 30, 458 P.3d 328, 331 (2020).

B. THE SUPREME COURT VACATED LVRJ'S FEE AWARD.

After the District Court directed the Coroner to disclose the unredacted juvenile autopsy reports, LVRJ filed a motion for fees and costs in the amount of \$32,377.52. 2 JA 454-69. The District Court granted LVRJ's motion. *Id.* Subsequently, the Coroner sought a stay of the order, which the District Court denied. This Court issued a published opinion and concluded that a government agency is entitled to a stay pending appeal as a matter of right from a monetary

judgment. See Clark Cty. Office of Coroner/Med. Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 134 Nev. 174, 415 P.3d 16 (2018).

On appeal, the Coroner argued that the award of fees and costs must be vacated if the Supreme Court ruled in favor of the Coroner. Because the Court concluded that the *CCSD* balancing test applied and the matter was remanded to the District Court, the Supreme Court vacated the fee and cost award in its entirety, reasoning that LVRJ was not the prevailing party. *Clark Cty. Office of Coroner/Med. Exam'r v. Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 136 Nev. 44, 62, 458 P.3d 1048, 1062 (2020).

C. PROCEEDINGS ON REMAND.

LVRJ filed its Opening Brief on Remand on August 27, 2020. 3 JA 472-506. The Coroner filed its Answering Brief on October 7, 2020. 3 JA 507-36. The LVRJ filed its Reply in Support of its Opening Brief on Remand on October 22, 2020. 3 JA 537-78. The District Court conducted a hearing on the parties' briefs on remand on October 29, 2020. 3 JA 579-80. Ultimately, the District Court ruled in favor of LVRJ and directed the Coroner to produce the unredacted juvenile autopsy reports by November 20, 2020. 3 JA 619-37. Subsequently, the Coroner filed a motion to stay pending an appeal, but the District Court denied the motion. 4 JA 747-62. LVRJ filed a motion for order to show cause why the Coroner should not be held in contempt on December 8, 2020, which the District Court also

Page 10 of 44

denied based on the Coroner's good faith attempt in seeking a stay prior to the disclosure deadline. 4 JA 763-68.

The Coroner filed a notice of appeal on December 15, 2020. 4 JA 724-46. At the same time, the Coroner sought an emergency stay from this Court with a deadline of December 30, 2020, the same date that the records were ordered to be produced. *See* Supreme Court Case No. 82229. This Court, however, denied the Coroner's emergency request for a stay. *Id.* As a result, the Coroner sought to voluntarily dismiss the appeal. *Id.* On January 12, 2021, this Court granted the Coroner's motion and ordered each party to bear its own attorney fees and costs. *Id.*

D. LVRJ'S APPLICATION FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS.

LVRJ filed an Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Cost on February 2, 2021. 6 JA 1001-1132. Notably, LVRJ incorporated its previous motion filed before the initial appeal that sought \$32,377.50 in fees and costs. 6 JA 1004. LVRJ dedicated a significant portion of its brief to arguing that the NPRA permitted appellate fees and costs.¹ 6 JA 1008-13. From the appeal process forward, LVRJ expended nearly 700 hours in litigating the matter. 6 JA 1015. LVRJ simply intended to pass-on the cost of its unsuccessful and unreasonable

¹ Despite addressing this with the District Court, LVRJ did not raise this issue in its Opening Brief ("OB").

work to the Coroner, including work related to the initial motion for attorney fees (which was expressly vacated by this Court), work regarding contempt research on the day the records were required to be disclosed and were actually provided, nearly \$3,000 worth of work that occurred post-judgment and unrelated to accessing public records, and over \$7,000 for a duplicate fee application. 6 JA 1140-43. LVRJ also sought \$3,581.48 in costs, which included: \$551.44 for photocopies²; \$540.50 for filing fees; \$2,144.448 in legal research³; \$22.39 for postage; and \$322.67 for transcript fees. 5 JA 774-1000.

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